

A program of the Provincial Health Services Authority

Antibiotic Resistant Organisms Prevention and Control Guidelines for Healthcare Facilities

Reference Document for use by Health Care Organizations for Internal Policy/Protocol Development

Revised from Provincial Infection Control Network Antibiotic Resistant Organisms Prevention and Control Guidelines 2008

Provincial Infection Control Network 2013

Table of Contents

Rev	risions Working Group	3
Acr	onyms	4
1	Introduction	5
2	Purpose	5
3	Scope	5
4	Literature Search Strategy	6
5	Methods	
6	Background	6
U	6.1 Methicillin-Resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (MRSA)	
	6.2 Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci (VRE)	
	6.3 Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase (ESBL)	
	6.4 Carbapenem Resistant <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> (CRE)	
	6.5 Other Multi-Drug Resistant Organisms	
	6.6 Vancomycin Resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (VRSA)	
	6.7 Colonization versus Infection	
		-
7	General Principles for the Prevention and Control of Antibiotic Resistant Organisms	9
	7.1 General Control Measures	
	7.1.1 Screening of Admitted Patients to Acute Care for ARO Risk Factors	
	7.1.2 Screening for MRSA in Acute Care Facilities	
	7.1.3 Screening for VRE in Acute Care Facilities	
	7.1.4 Screening for ESBL in Acute Care Facilities	
	7.1.5 Screening for CRE in Acute Care Facilities	
	7.1.6 Screening of New Admissions to Residential Care Facilities (RCF)	
	7.1.7 Screening of New Clients in Home Care	
	7.1.8 Re-culture of Previously Positive Patients to Prove Decolonization	
	7.1.9 Screening Patients After Exposure to AROs	
	7.1.10 Swab Sites	-
8	Routine Practices	-
9	Additional Precautions When Caring for ARO Positive Patients in Acute Care	16
	9.1 Transmission Risk Assessment	
	9.1.1 Timing of Implementation of Precautions	16
	9.2 MRSA	17
	9.3 VRE	17
	9.4 ESBL	17
	9.5 CRE	17
	9.6 Other Multi-Drug Resistant Organisms Including VRSA	17
	9.6 Accommodation in Acute Care	
	9.7 Operating Rooms and Post Anaesthesia Care Unit (PACU)	19
	9.8 Accommodation in Residential Care	
	9.9 Management in Home Health Care Services, Assisted Living Sites, and Group Homes	20

10	Decolonization	20
	10.1 Decolonization for MRSA	
	10.2 Decolonization for VRE, ESBL & CRE	21
11	Environmental Cleaning	21
12	Linen and Garbage Disposal	21
13	Dishes and Utensils	21
14	Education	21
	14.1 Education for Healthcare Personnel	
	14.2 Patient Education	22
	14.3 Visitors	22
15	Employment	22
	15.1 Healthcare Providers	22
	15.1.1 Screening Healthcare Providers	
	15.1.2 Work Restrictions	23
16	Pets	23
16 17		
17		23
17	Discontinuing Precautions	23 23
17 18	Discontinuing Precautions	23 23 23
17 18 19	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance 18.1 Surveillance Data	23 23 23 24
17 18 19 Glo	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance	23 23 23 24 25
17 18 19 Glo Sur	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance	23 23 24 25 27
17 18 19 Glo Sur	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance	23 23 24 25 27
17 18 19 Glo Sur Apj	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance	23 23 24 25 27 29
17 18 19 Glo Sur App App	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance	23 23 24 25 27 29 30
17 18 19 Glo Sur App App	Discontinuing Precautions Surveillance 18.1 Surveillance Data Outbreak Management Oussary. Inmary of Recommendations pendix 1: Definitions of the Strength of Recommendations and the Quality of Supporting Evidence	23 23 23 24 25 27 27 30 32

Revisions Working Group

Joanne Archer RN, B.Tech, MA Education and Best Practices Coordinator Provincial Infection Control Network of British Columbia

Bruce Gamage RN, BSN, BSc (Micb), CIC Network Manager Provincial Infection Control Network of British Columbia

Dr. Jennifer Grant MD, CM, FRCP(S) Medical Microbiologist and Infectious Disease Specialist Vancouver Coastal health Authority

Dr. Pamela Kibsey MD, FRCPC Medical Microbiologist Vancouver Island Health Authority

Dr. Victor Leung MD, FRCPC Infection Prevention and Control Physician Providence Health Care

Dr. Benjamin Mack MD, FRCPC Medical Microbiologist Fraser Health Authority

Holly-Lynn Nelson RN, BScN Infection Prevention and Control Professional Northern Health Authority

Cynthia Proskow RN, BScN Infection Prevention and Control Professional Vancouver Island Health Authority

Coleen Reiswig RN, BSN, CIC Infection Prevention and Control Professional Interior Health Authority

Acronyms

ABHR	Alcohol based hand rub
ARO	Antibiotic Resistant Organism
BCCDC	British Columbia Centre for Disease Control
CADTH	Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health
CHICA	Community and Hospital Infection Control Association, Canada
CINAHL	Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature
CRE	Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae
DIN	Drug Identification Number
ESBL	Extended Spectrum Beta Lactamase
НСР	Healthcare provider
ICP	Infection Control Practitioner/Professional
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IPC	Infection Prevention and Control
MRSA	Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus
NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
OR	Operating Room
PACU	Post Anaesthetic Care Unit
PIDAC	Provincial Infectious Disease Advisory Committee, Ontario
PHAC	Public Health Agency of Canada
PICNet	Provincial Infection Control Network of British Columbia
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
RCF	Residential Care Facility
VRE	Vancomycin Resistant Enterococcus
WH&S	Workplace Health and Safety

1 Introduction

The prevalence of antibiotic resistant organisms (ARO) has been increasing, and new organisms are developing resistance while known resistant organisms are changing. Some of these organisms have the ability to cause serious health issues, while others rarely seem to cause infections. Infections caused by AROs are often difficult to resolve^[1]. Antibiotic resistant organisms lead to higher costs for the healthcare system and increased suffering for affected individuals ^[2-6].

2 Purpose

These guidelines are intended as a framework for managing individuals colonized or infected with AROs in healthcare settings. The guidelines may be modified to accommodate the specific needs of the various patient/resident/client populations and services provided in BC healthcare facilities. We recommend that these guidelines be used to harmonize infection control practices throughout BC. Because patients often utilize more than one facility within a health authority, or cross health authority boundaries, a consistent approach will reduce confusion and promote a better understanding by all of the required practices. A provincially harmonious approach to the control of AROs across BC is attainable if each healthcare region develops its own ARO infection control policies and procedures based on these guidelines.

These guidelines are not regulatory, and the recommendations are not fixed protocols that must be followed. Responsible clinicians' judgment on the management of patients remains paramount. Individual treatment plans should be developed that are tailored to the specific needs and circumstances of the patient/resident/client while protecting other patients/residents/clients and staff.

While direct care staff are welcome to read and use this document, it is not intended to supersede direction given by their local Infection Control Practitioner or their Health Authority Infection Prevention and Control program.

3 Scope

The scope of these guidelines is to address measures that prevent acquisition and control transmission of antibiotic resistant organisms in healthcare settings. Since antibiotic resistance is a dynamic topic and knowledge will change over time as new information emerges, this document will be updated to reflect these changes. These guidelines deal specifically with Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococcus* (VRE), Extended Spectrum Beta Lactamase (ESBL) - producing organisms, and Carbapenem Resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*(CRE) as they are the most epidemiologically important AROs at this time. Specific treatments for ARO infections are not within the scope of this document.

4 Literature Search Strategy

A very extensive search of the literature published over the past seven years was undertaken. To enhance this process, two organizations assisted PICNet.

The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) performed an extensive literature search, summary, and critical appraisal of clinical evidence of screening, isolation, and decolonization strategies for MRSA organisms. CADTH also agreed to perform an extensive literature search and systematic review of the clinical evidence on screening, isolation, and decolonization strategies for VRE-and ESBL-producing organisms as well as on health services impact. A detailed summary of their processes can be found in their reports on the PICNet web page http://www.picnet.ca/picnet-publications/2/reports-from-other-organizations.

The College of Registered Nurses of British Columbia health librarians performed an extensive literature search on other multi-drug resistant organisms, including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumannii*, and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* using EBSCO's CINAHL Plus with Full-Text database (which includes indexing for the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews), with additional searches in EBSCO's DynaMed point-of-care database, and the National Library of Medicine's PubMed database. Using the same search strategy, they also performed a literature search for research questions not taken on by CADTH (e.g. risk factors for carriage, length of carriage, risk of infection for those colonized) for all antibiotic resistant organisms. Lists of abstracts were sent to PICNet for review. A total of 388 abstracts were reviewed, leading to a full review of 309 articles read from these sources.

PICNet is also alerted to new electronically published articles related to Infection Prevention and Control. These were continually scanned for recent studies and included when appropriate.

5 Methods

The revisions working group, in collaboration with CADTH, developed four main key questions and fifteen specific questions for the literature search and development of this document. Selected articles were organized onto key question spreadsheet, reviewed, and evidence -weighed by the revisions working group. The recommendations made within this guideline are graded based on the level of supporting evidence available, using the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) rating scale for strength and quality of evidence (Appendix 1). The grading level assigned does not relate to the importance of the recommendation, but to the strength of the supporting evidence.

6 Background

6.1 Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)

Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) are strains of *S. aureus* resistant to oxacillin, cloxacillin, and other semisynthetic antibiotics related to penicillin. They may also be resistant to tetracyclines, clindamycin, cephalosporins, macrolides, quinolones, and other antibiotics. MRSA causes a range of infections from mild/moderate skin abscesses and post-operative wound infections to more invasive diseases such as bacteremia and pneumonia. Treatment options for MRSA strains are both

clinically and economically challenging. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) strains are the most clinically important ARO among the *staphylococci* species^[7-9].

MRSA infections were historically associated with healthcare settings (HA-MRSA). However, communityassociated MRSA (CA-MRSA) strains have emerged in recent years. These strains contain unique clones of *S. aureus* that often produce a toxin called Panton Valentine Leukocidin (PVL). CA-MRSA strains are genetically and clinically distinct from HA-MRSA, and have different resistance profiles ^[10]. This document refers to CA-MRSA as particular strains of MRSA that could be acquired either in the community or the hospital setting. In recent years these lines have blurred, and HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA strains are seen in both settings.

According to a BCCDC report (2010), MRSA has increased In British Columbia (BC) since 2008. In 2010, more than a quarter (27.8%) of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates tested by laboratories that submitted data were Methicillin resistant. However, an overall decrease in their resistance to antibiotics other than beta-lactams was noted, which reflects an increase in CA-MRSA strains ^[11].

6.2 Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci (VRE)

Enterococci have always had inherent resistance to many antibiotics, and can readily acquire resistance to others. VRE are *Enterococci* that have acquired resistance to Vancomycin (the drug of choice for treating multi-drug resistant *Enterococci* infections). The incidence of infections caused by VRE is very low ^[12, 13] and most common are wound infections and bacteremias. VRE is neither more pathogenic nor more virulent than susceptible *Enterococci* (i.e., it is not more likely to cause infection), nor does it cause more serious infections than other *Enterococci*. However, as with MRSA therapy, treatment of VRE infection is much more problematic due to the limited options ^[14].

6.3 Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase (ESBL)

ESBL is a bacterial enzyme with the ability to break down specific beta-lactam antibiotics (cephalosporins, penicillins). Furthermore, organisms producing this enzyme tend to harbour resistance to other antibiotics on plasmids, rendering treatment more complicated. ESBL may be produced by any Gram-negative bacteria that has acquired an ESBL containing plasmid, but is most commonly produced by *Escherichia coli* (otherwise known as *E. coli*) and *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Bacteria producing an ESBL are resistant to antibiotic therapy with specific beta-lactams and any other antibiotics for which there is a resistance gene on the plasmid. These organisms usually live in a person's intestines; however, they can also live in moist wounds and in urine, and can cause infections. In most cases, a person's immune system is able to successfully resist infection with an ESBL -producing bacteria. However, people who become infected and have weak immune systems are at risk of antibiotic treatment failure. This includes neonates, children, the elderly, and people with chronic health conditions ^[15, 16].

6.4 Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE)

The carbapenem group of antimicrobials provide an effective treatment option for severe Gramnegative bacterial infections when causative organisms are resistant to other classes of antimicrobials. Carbapenem resistance develops as a result of changes in the outer membrane of the organism or the production of carbapenem-hydrolysing enzymes (carbapenemase). These enzymes are encoded by genes carried on mobile genetic elements such as plasmids, which can rapidly spread amongst related bacterial genera. Some organisms carry them in their genome, and are considered intrinsically resistant to carbapenems. To date, carbapenemases are most commonly found in *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumonia*, but have been found in almost all members of the *enterobacteriaceae*. Identifying carbapenem resistance and distinguishing between these different mechanisms of resistance can be challenging for clinical microbiology laboratories. These organisms can cause a variety of infections, such as wound/surgical site, bacteremias, pneumonias, and urinary tract infections ^[17]. As with ESBL - producing organisms, most CRE also carry genes for resistance to multiple other classes of antibiotics, leaving few, if any, effective treatment options.

6.5 Other Multi-Drug Resistant Organisms

Carbapenemases, as well as other resistance factors, have also been identified in several species of Gram-negative bacilli commonly encountered in healthcare, such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Acinetobacter spp.* and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*. Since some of these organisms are already ubiquitous in our environment, it is difficult to know whether transmission primarily occurs via environmental sources (e.g. inadequately cleaned equipment; water sources such as sinks) or on the hands of healthcare providers (HCPs). Current evidence suggests that both modes are possible. These organisms cause a variety of infections, including bacteremia, pneumonia, wound, and urinary tract infections^[18-28].

6.6 Vancomycin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (VRSA)

The first report of a VRSA isolate was in 2002. Since then, there have been only 12 such isolates reported in the USA, and a handful of individual cases reported around the world (Iran, India, France). Of the cases in which the details are known (n=13), two of the infections were serious (necrotizing fasciitis and osteomyelitis) and the remainders were skin and soft tissue, with one case of urinary colonization. None of the patients became critically ill. To date, there has been no evidence of intra-hospital spread, although all of the settings had infection control processes in place ^[29-31].

6.7 Colonization versus Infection

Colonization is the presence, growth, and multiplication of an organism in or on a body site, without signs and symptoms of infection. Infection refers to tissue invasion by an organism with multiplication, damage to the host, and overt signs and symptoms of infection (fever, increased white blood cell count, purulence, inflammation etc.). Individuals who are immunosuppressed may not exhibit overt signs such as fever.

7 General Principles for the Prevention and Control of Antibiotic Resistant Organisms

7.1 General Control Measures

It is recommended that each facility/region develop a comprehensive, strategic plan to detect, prevent and control infection and colonization with AROs. A11 The following guidelines address general screening, precautions, and other measures used for the control of AROs when caring for colonized or infected patients in acute, long term, home, and community care settings.

Each health authority should utilize an active antibiotic stewardship program that monitors and ensures the appropriate use of antibiotics. A11 Judicious use of antibiotics should also be emphasized in order to limit the increase and spread of antibiotic resistant microorganisms^[32-35].

It is expected that there will be significant differences in infection prevention and control (IPC) approaches between acute care, residential, and home/community care settings with regard to AROs. It is impractical and unnecessary to implement the same degree of control measures in every setting across the continuum of care. There are significant differences in the types of care provided, the degree of patient risk associated with the setting, and what is currently known about the epidemiology of these organisms. Control measures need to be tailored to fit the particular setting.

7.1.1 Screening of Admitted Patients to Acute Care for ARO Risk Factors

It is recommended that acute care hospitals have a program of active screening for specific AROs for all admitted patients, which includes a screening questionnaire for risk factors, followed by cultures if indicated. B11^[36, 37]The main goal for admission screening for AROs is to identify those patients who are colonized in order to prevent transmission of the organism to other patients. In several countries where MRSA is well controlled, admission screening is a key component of their control strategy ^[38, 39]. Ideally, this screening is completed as a part of the initial patient admission history and assessment or at least within 24 hours of admission.

Different regions of BC may have unique population demographics and environmental conditions that affect the epidemiology of ARO transmission. It is therefore at the discretion of each health authority to determine which patient populations are deemed higher risk and require screening cultures for specific AROs. Specific organisms or individual circumstances may also influence patient care decisions made related to controlling AROs. A transmission risk assessment is important, and includes:

- the patient's potential risk of transmission to others:
 - their symptoms (e.g. incontinence, ability to comply with hand hygiene, presence of open wounds, respiratory secretions)
 - o amount of hands-on nursing care required
- area of hospital and services provided (e.g. general medical unit, ICU, burn unit, transplant unit).

7.1.2 Screening for MRSA in Acute Care Facilities

Each health authority should determine which of these risk factors are most relevant for the patient population they serve, and with the use of local data, determine which patients should be screened. Any or all risk factors should be considered for a screening program:

- history of previous MRSA colonization^[40-43]
- any patient with a previous admission to an acute care facility. There is no conclusive evidence on exactly how long a hospital stay is necessary to acquire colonization; however, more recent studies suggest that it may be longer than previously believed (range 4-21 days)^[40, 42, 44, 45]. The length of carriage is also highly variable, although the majority of recent literature found has studied a 12-month time frame ^[41-43, 46, 47].
- number of co-morbidities (e.g. COPD, HIV, CTD, diabetes, dialysis)^[43, 46-48].
- previous antibiotics use (e.g. quinolones, cephalosporin, carbapenems)^[44, 45, 49-51]
- patients who have recently (within the past year) been incarcerated, or live in shelters, dormitories or other group settings (e.g. work camp) where they live in close quarters and share bathrooms and/or personal items^[52]
- elderly and/or functionally dependent on others to provide care^[42, 43]
- patients who have participated in sports where there has been close contact (e.g. wrestling) or where equipment has been shared^[53-55]
- individuals or household members of those who have a history within the past 6 months of nonhealing skin infections such as cellulitis, wounds or boils^[56-60]
- patients from long-term care settings, especially those with known risk factors (e.g. hemodialysis, chronic ventilation, skin breakdown, or history of antibiotic use)^[41-43, 46, 47, 49].

7.1.3 Screening for VRE in Acute Care Facilities

Current literature reveals no compelling evidence to confirm or refute the usefulness of screening or use of additional precautions beyond routine practices for individuals *colonized* with VRE.

Previously recommended screening and containment measures were a result of expert opinion and consensus using the precautionary principle, as this was an emerging organism that was not well understood. Although some studies have shown that additional precautions may limit the spread of VRE colonization^[61-63], the cost/benefit of this approach is debatable when compared to increased adverse events and increased incidence of reported depression in patients under isolation^[64, 65], the low incidence of infections caused by VRE, the cost of screening and personal protective equipment, impact on bed utilization and health services, and increased healthcare provider time^[66].

The following is a list of risk factors for colonization or infection with VRE:

- antibiotic use (e.g. cephalosporins, vancomycin, fluoroquinolone, meropenem) [67-70]
- preterm birth ^[71]
- previous admission to acute care ^[67, 72]
- functionally dependent upon others to provide care ^[70-72]
- contact with other colonized patients ^[70, 72, 73]

- elderly, medical fragility ^[43, 70, 72, 73]
- transfers from other hospitals ^[43, 72, 73].

Currently, expert opinion diverges on the utility of screening and containment measures for VRE, and some facilities are discontinuing previous strategies for some or all of their patient populations.

It is recommended that any health authority or facility considering the discontinuation of screening and containment practices for VRE follow the recommendations contained in the position statement "VRE Screening and Contact Precautions from the Community and Hospital Infection Control Association of Canada (CHICA)". C111 A copy of this position statement can be found in Appendix 2. The key points of this statement advise that the following are undertaken prior to any change in screening/containment policies:

- epidemiologic investigation and risk assessment for any VRE infection specific to the facility; consultation with staff and client groups including high -risk wards/clinics
- discussion with risk management and bioethics
- consultation with patient relations and public affairs
- consideration of legal consultation and review of existing practice guidelines and evidencebased studies
- discussion with external stakeholders, including the health region
- an enhanced communication strategy, including multiple contingencies and the possible need to alter strategy in the future.

A recent (August 2012) review and discussion of literature on the control of VRE with a response to the proposed discontinuation of VRE surveillance and containment was published by Public Health Ontario Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee on Infection Prevention and Control (PIDAC-IPC).

Facilities that choose to continue with VRE screening and containment should be aware that patients transferred from a hospital that has discontinued VRE screening and containment practices may be an unrecognized VRE reservoir. C111 PIDAC recommends the following in these situations. A copy of this page of the document can be found in Appendix 3. In summary,

- receiving hospitals should monitor VRE colonization/infection rates in patients returning from these hospitals
- consideration might be given to managing these patients with pre-emptive isolation, pending screening results
- if routine pre-emptive isolation is not feasible (e.g., insufficient numbers of single rooms) then pre-emptive isolation should be considered for patients at higher risk of having acquired VRE in the referral facility (e.g., those who have received care in an ICU setting or transplant unit; or have had a longer length of stay overall).

Also recently released is a "Response to the Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee Review of Literature for Evidence-based Best Practices for VRE Control" paper by Gardem et al.^[74]. Below is their conclusion:

"Our position remains that VRE control is a grey area, and that no definitive data or literature exist to prove either side of the argument for control versus no control. After long and measured consideration, our own experiences with VRE have led us to the conclusion that there is more risk inherent in VRE control measures, in terms of patient safety, than there is benefit. We feel this is a highly complex issue that requires open and transparent debate and discussion, as well as study. We have chosen to take the initial step in questioning VRE control measures and to centrally collect robust prospective data so that we can rigorously evaluate the impacts of our decision. As stated previously, there are key Canadian opinion leaders on both sides of this argument, so we are not alone or irresponsible in our opinions. Respectfully, we feel that the PIDAC review has not been sufficiently robust, inclusive and open to substantiate its position on the issue of VRE control. The literature supports our position as equally as PIDAC argues it supports theirs and the debate remains an active one."

A review of the literature and the impact of the changed approach on VRE infection rates in facilities that have chosen to discontinue screening and isolation should be completed within the next three to five years. Should any compelling evidence of harm be found, then a plan to re-institute screening and containment strategies will be required. C111

7.1.4 Screening for ESBL in Acute Care Facilities

There is no compelling evidence nor is there consensus among experts on admission screening for ESBLs. Decisions about admission screening should be based on local epidemiology and consideration of high-risk groups. If screening and isolation are not routine, they may be considered to address a temporary outbreak in a specific unit and discontinued once control is achieved.

The following is a list of patients that have been identified in the literature as having a higher risk of colonization or infection with ESBL:

- frequent admissions to acute care^[75-77]
- length of hospital stay^[77-80]
- numerous invasive devices (urinary catheter, endotracheal tubes, central venous lines)^[76-78, 80]
- infants and small children ^[79, 81-83]
- elderly and/or functionally dependent on others to provide care^[77, 78, 84]
- recurrent infections^[75, 78]
- frequent antibiotic use^[76, 78-80, 84]
- collective housing, unhygienic living conditions [84]
- chronic conditions, co-morbidities^[75-77]
- travel to high -risk countries [85, 86]
- household contacts [87-89]
- some residential care facilities ^[78, 90].

7.1.5 Screening for CRE in Acute Care Facilities

In the interests of patient safety, and using the precautionary principle, it is recommended that high - risk individuals are screened for CRE upon admission to acute care facilities. B111

Current literature suggests that identifying patients who are at high risk of colonization or infection with CRE, through active screening by rectal swab on admission to healthcare settings, is prudent. Preventing transmission of these microorganisms in acute healthcare facilities is important, as CRE infections are associated with increased morbidity, mortality, length of hospitalization, and healthcare costs ^[91]. There is a scarcity of data available on the effectiveness of measures, and recommendations rely heavily on expert opinion. More recent studies and outbreak investigation reports do find evidence of intrahospital spread, and support the use of a comprehensive infection control strategy that includes screening of high -risk individuals^[92-95].

The following is a list of patients that have been identified in the literature as having a higher risk for colonization or infection with CRE:

- travel to countries/areas with high rates (USA, Indian Subcontinent, Greece, Israel)^[91, 94, 96]
- Individuals who have received medical care abroad in areas with high rates of CRE, especially those with^[91]:
 - o prior antimicrobial use
 - o extended length of stay (time at risk)
 - o severe illness
 - o admission to the ICU
 - high procedure score
 - o presence of wounds
 - o recent transplantation.

7.1.6 Screening of New Admissions to Residential Care Facilities (RCF)

Routine screening for AROs is not currently recommended for residents of RCFs in BC. Each facility should base its decisions regarding admission screening for AROs on an individual risk assessment of each resident for the presence or absence of risk factors. Admission should not be denied or delayed by a RCF on the basis of colonization or infection with an ARO. If a resident is known to be colonized with an ARO, it should be included in their health history and documentation, as this information may guide antibiotic or other treatment choices and is required should they require admission to acute care.

7.1.7 Screening of New Clients in Home Care

Routine screening for AROs in clients new to home care is not currently recommended. There is no evidence to suggest that these individuals pose an increased risk to other clients if diligent routine practices are followed. If the client is known to be colonized with an ARO, it should be included in their health history and documentation as this information may guide antibiotic or other treatment choices, and is required should they require admission to acute care.

7.1.8 Re-culture of Previously Positive Patients to Prove Decolonization

If the decision to re-culture is made, obtain at least two sets of swabs taken from the sites in Table 1 (on page 15) at separate time intervals (at least a week apart). The patient should have completed all antibiotics and, although there is no evidence, the greater the time passed since antibiotic use would theoretically ensure that the results are more reliable. Health authorities should provide clear direction to staff on when to re-culture patients and have an established procedure. C111

The absence of an ARO on surveillance swabs does not unequivocally mean that it is not present. The organism may be present in numbers too small to be detectable. The decision to re-culture previously positive patients should be made on a regional or local basis in consultation with laboratory services and Infection Prevention and Control. For MRSA, VRE, and ESBL, studies suggest that there are different types of carriers: transient carriers who rapidly decolonize, and chronic carriers who require months or years to clear the organism^[69, 85, 97-101].

For individuals colonized with MRSA, studies have shown that anywhere from 25–50% of patients became decolonized within four months^[97-99]. One factor associated with a decreased time for carriage was the use of systemic antibiotics for an active MRSA infection. Factors associated with increased length of carriage included colonization in two or more sites; household contacts who were also colonized; chronic skin lesions/pressure ulcers; and chronic disease. For patients who remain hospitalized for an extended period of time or who are re-admitted frequently into acute care, the decision to re-culture for MRSA following treatment may be warranted.

For individuals colonized with VRE; recent studies, albeit with small sample sizes, suggest that possibly about 35–40% become decolonized within six months ^[69, 100]. Antibiotic use was identified as a factor associated with prolonged or re-current colonization.

For individuals colonized with ESBL, recent studies, albeit with small sample sizes, suggest that possibly 25–70% decolonize within three to eight months^[101, 102].

7.1.9 Screening Patients After Exposure to AROs

In high -risk areas of acute care, such as ICUs, burn units, transplantation units, or cardiothoracic units, patients who were roommates of, or had close contact with, a known ARO positive patient should be considered potentially exposed and should have screening cultures performed. C111 In low risk areas, screening of contacts may not be practicable as there are limited possibilities to intervene based upon results, and there is no point in screening if no action would be taken as a result of the information; however, this may provide information for re-admission and is at the discretion of the institution. Screening of contacts may, however, be of value in an outbreak situation.

An ARO may not be detectable by current laboratory methods until the microbial population has reached a sufficient level. One study ^[103] found that, on average, MRSA in exposed roommates was not detectable until 9–10 weeks after exposure. If the decision is made to screen contacts (e.g. roommates), then at least two sets of swabs are required, with one taken a minimum of seven days after exposure

(e.g. day 3 and day 8)^[104]. If the exposed individual remains in hospital for a prolonged period of time, a further set of screening swabs at week 10 is suggested. Screening should also be repeated upon next admission. Use a transmission risk assessment to determine whether additional precautions should be instituted while waiting for screening results.

7.1.10 Swab Sites

If it is determined that culture swabs are warranted for MRSA, VRE, and/or ESBL, the table below illustrates the sites that are commonly recommended for swab collection.

VRE	MRSA	ESBL and CRE
Rectal/stool	Anterior nares and at least one of the following:	Rectal/stool
Ostomy sites (if present)	Axilla, peri-rectal area, groin, throat or umbilicus (for newborns)	Urine
Open wounds/areas of skin breakdown/lesions (if present)	All invasive device insertion sites (e.g. central lines)	Any open wounds
	Ostomy sites (if present)	Ostomy sites (if present)
	Areas of skin breakdown/skin lesions/wounds (if present)	

Table 1: Sites for screening swabs

8 Routine Practices

"Routine practices" is the term used to describe the system of IPC practices recommended in Canada. The use of routine practices is fundamental to the provision of patient/resident/client care in any healthcare setting.

Close attention to routine practices is the key to preventing transmission of all microorganisms, including AROs, in all healthcare settings.

The full description of routine practices is contained in the Health Canada Infection Control Guidelines, *"Routine Practices and Additional Precautions for Preventing the Transmission of Infection in Healthcare"*^[105] or *"Routine Practices and Additional Precautions in all Healthcare Settings"* by the Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion^[106]. A brief summary has been provided in Appendix 4 of this document.

9 Additional Precautions When Caring for ARO Positive Patients in Acute Care

9.1 Transmission Risk Assessment

Patients at increased risk of disseminating MRSA include:

- individuals with colonized tracheostomy and uncontrolled respiratory secretions
- individuals with respiratory infections
- individuals with wound or stoma drainage that is not contained by a dressing or appliance
- individuals with desquamating skin conditions (e.g. psoriasis, burn patients)
- individuals who are cognitively impaired (unable to comply with instructions)
- individuals who have poor hygiene and are non-compliant with instructions.

Patients at increased risk of disseminating VRE include:

- individuals who are at a high risk of soiling their environment (e.g. diarrhea, fecal incontinence)^[107]
- individuals who have poor hygiene and/or are non-compliant with hand and general hygiene.

Patients at increased risk of disseminating ESBL or CRE include:

- individuals with respiratory infections, especially those with uncontrolled secretions
- individuals with wound or stoma drainage that is not contained by a dressing or appliance
- individuals who are at high risk of soiling their environment (urinary or fecal incontinence).

9.1.1 Timing of Implementation of Precautions

Use a transmission risk assessment to determine whether additional precautions are required while awaiting screening culture results. Otherwise, institute contact precautions as described below when positive ARO status is confirmed.

9.2 MRSA

In addition to routine practices, use contact precautions when caring for individuals infected or colonized with MRSA. **B11** This will aid in preventing transmission to other patients ^[37, 108]. Contact precautions include:

- gloves upon entering the room or patients bed space for any contact with patient or their environment
- gowns when providing care to patient or if skin or clothing may come in to contact with their environment
- if possible, dedicate any equipment (e.g. blood pressure cuff, stethoscope) to that patient; otherwise, clean and disinfect with a hospital-grade disinfectant prior to using with another patient.

Gloves and gowns must be removed and hands cleaned upon leaving the room or patient's bed space.

Routine practices recommend the use of a mask when caring for individuals who have a febrile respiratory illness. As well, a small number of studies support the use of a fluid-resistant mask when caring for a patient who has respiratory symptoms or a tracheostomy, and has MRSA identified in their sputum ^[109, 110].

9.3 VRE

Health authorities that choose to continue with screening and containment strategies for individuals colonized or infected with VRE should use contact precautions in same manner as used for MRSA. C111

9.4 ESBL

The value of using contact precautions when caring for patients colonized or infected with an ESBL organism is not clear, although may be of value in high -risk areas such as NICU, transplant units, ICU, etc.^[111, 112] Use a transmission risk assessment to determine which patients require additional precautions.

9.5 CRE

There is a scarcity of data available on the effectiveness of measures for controlling CRE, and recommendations rely heavily on expert opinion. CRE infections are associated with increased morbidity, mortality, length of hospitalization, and healthcare costs^[91], and recent studies and outbreak investigation reports do find evidence of intra-hospital spread ^[92-95, 113]. *In the interests of patient safety and using the precautionary principle, it is recommended that contact precautions be used when caring for any patient known or suspected to be colonized or infected with CRE*. B111

9.6 Other Multi-Drug Resistant Organisms Including VRSA

There is a scarcity of information regarding the ability of these organisms to spread; the mode of transmission; and the evolution of these organisms over time. It is recommended that each health authority, in consultation with Medical Microbiology and IPC, have a process for surveillance and containment when highly resistant isolates are identified. *Use the precautionary principle and a*

transmission risk assessment to determine which patients, situations (e.g. one versus multiple patients), or care areas (e.g. ICU, burn units) are best served by additional strategies. This process may include use of contact precautions, screening of roommates, and conducting point prevalence studies if it appears that transmission is likely to have occurred. B111

9.6 Accommodation in Acute Care

Single rooms are preferred in the accommodation of ARO positive patients. New construction plans should comply with CSA standards regarding the number of single rooms in proportion to the size of facility. If there is a shortage of single rooms, then accommodation should be based on an individual transmission risk assessment of the patient.

If a single room is not available, patients known to be colonized or infected with MRSA or VRE may be cohorted with other patients after consultation with IPC. The following order of preference for cohorting should be used:

- patients with MRSA should be cohorted with other MRSA positive patients, and patients with VRE should be cohorted with other patients with VRE
- if clients/residents cannot be cohorted, they may, based on a case by case review, be placed with low-risk roommates and spatially separated as much as possible.

Patients with AROs should not share a room with:

- individuals who are immunosuppressed
- individuals who have open wounds or decubitus ulcers
- individuals who have urinary catheters, feeding tubes or other invasive devices
- individuals whose hygiene is compromised
- individuals who have debilitative or bed-bound conditions that require extensive "hands- on" care.

Patients with CRE should only be cohorted with those who have the same organism or plasmid (consult IPC or Medical Microbiology).

Information shared with the patient's family or selected visitors should be done only with the patient's permission. ARO status of any patient should not be shared with roommates.

If cohorting patients with AROs with patients that do not have AROs is unavoidable, there should be increased attention to effective environmental cleaning throughout the duration of the cohort ^[114]. B111

Each health authority should develop an algorithm for prioritizing the use of single rooms. C111

9.7 Operating Rooms and Post Anaesthesia Care Unit (PACU)

In short stay/daycare areas, additional practices should be implemented based upon a transmission risk assessment. An extensive literature search by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) found no literature regarding the effectiveness of additional precautions in the operating room or post-anaesthesia recovery care unit for disease transmission by patients colonized with MRSA, VRE, or ESBL-producing organisms [36]. There are no additional practices required beyond the usual sterile techniques and personal protective equipment in operating rooms, unless a transmission risk assessment indicates a high risk.

In PACU, individuals <u>known</u> to be colonized or infected with an ARO should be cared for using contact precautions. B11

9.8 Accommodation in Residential Care

A patient's ARO status should have no bearing on whether they are admitted to a residential care facility. Patients should be admitted to the appropriate care setting based on their care needs. All facilities should have protocols in place to accommodate patients based on an individual transmission risk assessment. The decision for room placement for residents with AROs should take into consideration cognition, compliance, continence, and site(s) of colonization for all individuals in the room. Room placement should not use the specific ARO as criteria, but the resident's risk of transmission. If possible, patient or resident placement decisions should be made before the patient or resident arrives.

Placement choices for individuals with AROs include a single room, or sharing a multi-bed room with other residents also with the same or other AROs (cohorting), or sharing a multi-bed room with other persons not colonized. Regardless of room selection, adherence to routine practices is essential. Placement decision should include the following considerations:

- the resident's room door does not need to be closed
- roommates and their families do not need to be advised of the resident's ARO status
- if a decision is made that a resident who is known to be colonized with an ARO is to share a multi-bed room with residents not known to be colonized, roommates should not have factors that increase the risk for acquiring infections (see list below)
- bed location within the room may reduce the risk of transmission of known and unknown AROs.
 Preferably beds should be located where there is easy access to the bed from all directions, without having to touch a neighbouring bed
- temporary relocation may be necessary if the status of patients or residents colonized with AROs changes in a way that increases the risk of shedding or transferring their bacteria.

Factors that increase the risk that a long term care resident may become infected with an ARO include:

- the presence of a surgical wound, decubitus ulcer, or other chronic wound
- debilitated and/or bed bound, and requires extensive hands on care
- the presence of invasive indwelling devices (intravascular lines, urinary catheter, endotracheal or tracheostomy tube, gastrostomy (feeding tube)
- recent antimicrobial therapy.

Circumstances that might lead to relocation include conditions that increase the risk of transmission of any pathogen such as desquamating skin conditions, uncontrolled diarrhea, uncontrollable wound exudate, or any condition that requires contact or contact/droplet precautions. Admission to a single room, or provision of one-to-one care, or other strategies solely for purposes of infection control, should only be considered after consultation with infection prevention and control.

9.9 Management in Home Health Care Services, Assisted Living Sites, and Group Homes

Routine practices, including regular hand hygiene and environmental cleaning, are the essential and primary infection control measures for all Home and Community Care clients at all times, including persons colonized or infected with an ARO. Any additional precautions should only be considered if a risk assessment indicates a high risk of transmission. Clients colonized or infected with an ARO may participate in all recreational and social activities, if well enough to do so. Open wounds or lesions should be covered with clean, dry dressings.

Teach, encourage, and remind clients who are able to participate in self-care the importance of hand hygiene, especially after using the toilet and before eating or preparing food. Clients who have difficulty in self-care should be assisted in washing their hands or using alcohol based hand rub (ABHR). Emphasize the importance of proper hand hygiene technique and the importance of hand hygiene for other household members of clients who are colonized or infected with an ARO.

In group home settings, there is no need to disrupt housing arrangements if a household member becomes colonized or infected with an ARO. Their ARO status is confidential information. Residents colonized or infected with an ARO may participate in all recreational and social activities. All residents of the household should be taught good hand hygiene technique and the importance of good personal hygiene.

10 Decolonization

10.1 Decolonization for MRSA

Decolonization therapy is the use of topical or oral antibiotics (topical mupirocin alone or in combination with oral antibiotics) plus or minus antimicrobial soap body washes to treat MRSA colonized patients for the purpose of reducing their bioburden. Decisions whether to treat MRSA colonized individuals with a decolonization protocol in an effort to eradicate MRSA are not straight forward. There are differing opinions and approaches towards policies and procedures regarding decolonization. The decision regarding decolonization must be individualized for each situation and each patient. Studies have reported up to 40% recurrence rates, and repeated therapy has resulted in the emergence of mupirocin -resistant strains ^[115].

There may be circumstances in which decolonization for a particular patient will be beneficial. There is emerging evidence that decolonization prior to surgery or other invasive procedures reduces the risk of post-operative infection. Current studies support the use of screening and pre-operative decolonization for cardiac surgery ^[116, 117], major gastrointestinal surgery ^[118], and joint replacement surgery ^[119-121]. Facilities are encouraged to follow this literature and implement decolonization policies as appropriate for their activities.

10.2 Decolonization for VRE, ESBL & CRE

There is no clinically proven decolonization regimen to eradicate colonization with VRE, ESBL-producing organisms, or CRE. Infections with any of these organisms require treatment with the appropriate antimicrobial agent.

11 Environmental Cleaning

Resistance to antibiotics is not an indication for using more concentrated solutions of disinfectants for inactivation of AROs. Current disinfection protocols will be effective if they are diligently carried out and properly performed using friction (scrubbing) and conscientious cleaning of patient-care surfaces (e.g. bed rails), and frequently touched surfaces (e.g. hallway handrails), at least once daily. Processes for cleaning and disinfection should include selection of hospital appropriate solutions (DIN#); correct technique to remove soil; sufficient contact time for disinfectants; appropriate concentration of solutions used; use of damp dusting; working from clean to dirty areas; and eliminating the practice of re-dipping a cloth into the cleaning solution after use and using it on another surface. In addition, decluttering facilitates thorough cleaning. When any individual, regardless of colonization status, is transferred or discharged, all surfaces in their room should be cleaned and disinfected.

12 Linen and Garbage Disposal

Regular linen hampers may be used and soiled items may be treated as regular laundry. Double bagging is not required. Garbage from rooms with patients colonized or infected with an ARO does not require special precautions. Garbage should be handled in accordance with the facility's regular waste disposal policies.

13 Dishes and Utensils

An automated washing process (60 °C) or hand washing with water temperature of 44 °C ^[122] with regular dish detergent will effectively remove pathogens. Therefore, these items are not considered sources of infections and no special precautions are needed. It is not necessary to use disposable dishes for patients colonized or infected with an ARO.

14 Education

14.1 Education for Healthcare Personnel

Education for healthcare personnel regarding the epidemiology and specific precautions pertaining to ARO prevention and control should be developed to ensure that staff are educated appropriately and understand their responsibilities.

14.2 Patient Education

Patient education should cover routine hygienic practices for preventing the transmission of infections, such as hand hygiene, not sharing personal items, and cough etiquette.

Education should include an explanation of colonization/infection, the causative organism, what it means for their health status, the precautions being used, the rationale behind their use, and what their rights and responsibilities are. Patients should be encouraged to ask questions and have a process to express their concerns. Written information should also be provided.

14.3 Visitors

In the acute care setting, visitors should be instructed to use personal protective equipment if they are providing personal care to a patient on contact precautions. C111 All visitors are expected to comply with hand hygiene and nurses' instructions. Instructions need to ensure that patient confidentiality is respected. An education pamphlet should be available for visitors.

15 Employment

Employment in any field or setting should not be denied on the basis of colonization or infection with an ARO. Routine pre-employment screening for AROs is not recommended.

15.1 Healthcare Providers

Healthcare providers (HCPs) who are carriers of antibiotic resistant bacteria are rarely implicated as the "cause" of an outbreak^[123]. Colonization of HCWs is often transient, but may be ongoing ^[124]. Diligent attention to routine practices, especially hand hygiene, will significantly reduce any risk of transmission to others.

HCPs who are colonized with an ARO are generally asymptomatic carriers. If acute illness develops – for example, draining boils – the person should be managed according to current medical management recommendations and hospital policy specific to the illness. HCPs with open or draining wounds that cannot be covered (regardless of colonization status) should not work in direct patient care.

15.1.1 Screening Healthcare Providers

Identifying colonized HCPs through screening as part of an outbreak investigation should only be done at the direction of IPC and Workplace Health and Safety (WH&S), and in conjunction with the investigation of other possible sources of transmission. C111

Routine screening of healthcare providers is not recommended. Diligent use of routine practices is sufficient to minimize the risk of transmission. Screening cultures of HCPs, including students, physicians, and volunteers, should be considered only if specific HCPs have been epidemiologically implicated in the transmission of AROs ^[123]. Prior to proceeding with any HCP screening, a discussion between WH&S, IPC, diagnostic laboratories, and public health is recommended.

15.1.2 Work Restrictions

The need for work restrictions or removal from patient care duties while on treatment should be decided according to hospital IPC policy on a case-by-case basis with consultation with WH&S.

16 Pets

Policies regarding visiting pets should be made individually by each facility. It is not the sole jurisdiction of infection prevention and control as there are many other equally important elements that a pet policy needs to address (e.g. safety, allergies, etc.). A useful reference document regarding guidelines for animal-assisted interventions in healthcare facilities was recently published in the American Journal of Infection Control^[125] by a collaborative North American expert group.

MRSA is emerging in pet populations throughout the world. The role of pets in transmission of MRSA is still unclear; however, recent evidence suggests that MRSA can be transmitted between persons and their pets. Reports of MRSA infection and colonization in pets have indicated that pets tend to be colonized with isolates that are consistent with clones that are predominant in the human population in their area. The similarity between pet and human isolates has led to speculation that pet MRSA is closely linked to human MRSA, and that the source of MRSA in pets may often be colonized humans ^[126, 127].

17 Discontinuing Precautions

It should be noted that the absence of MRSA/VRE/ESBL positive cultures from screening cultures does not unequivocally mean that the organism has been eradicated from the patient. The decision to discontinue precautions on "swab negative" patients who were previously positive should be made based on individual patient characteristics, transmission risk assessment, and institutional policies. Experience has taught us that patients may become re-colonized when exposed to antibiotics, or if their health condition worsens.^[69, 85, 97-101] If precautions are discontinued, patients should continue to be monitored for any change in clinical status or treatment with antibiotics while they remain in the institution. Any change in clinical status or antibiotic therapy may warrant re-culturing. The room or patient's bed area should be thoroughly cleaned when precautions are discontinued, even if the patient remains in the hospital.^[122,123]

18 Surveillance

Surveillance is a critically important component of an infection prevention and control program. Surveillance identifies newly emerging pathogens, allows for the monitoring of epidemiologic trends (including detection of outbreaks), and is useful for measuring the effectiveness of interventions. Surveillance of AROs at the unit, facility, and health authority level should be based on local needs with the support of epidemiologists and IPC practitioners.

18.1 Surveillance Data

Surveillance data are used to set priorities and benchmarks, and to evaluate the effectiveness of IPC efforts. Specific local and regional objectives for ARO surveillance should be determined by each of the health authorities based on sound methodology.

19 Outbreak Management

An outbreak of an ARO should be suspected when rates of new cases of infection exceed expected baseline rates, or if a cluster of infections is identified. A cluster may be defined as more than one new case related to an existing case (index case) by time, location, or by an epidemiological link to the index case. The IPC practitioner, unit or facility manager, and facility Medical Director should be notified anytime an outbreak of infections caused by an ARO is suspected. Outbreaks of <u>infections</u> are reportable to the Medical Health Officer under the Public Health Act.

Consult Infection Prevention and Control and the Medical Health Officer regarding appropriate control measures and the need for further epidemiological investigations.

Activities that contribute to effective outbreak investigation and control include:

- evaluate system factors (e.g. occupancy level, antibiotic use, staffing of HCPs and housekeeping levels, etc.) to determine their role in transmission
- evaluate availability of resources: hand hygiene facilities and products, equipment dedicated to infected/colonized patients
- spatially separate patients known to be positive for an ARO from those not known to be positive for an ARO
- emphasize adherence to IPC practices, especially hand hygiene and the use of contact precautions
- provide "just in time" education in-services for staff on affected units and other departments
- review environmental cleaning, and increase frequency of cleaning of highly touched surfaces
- obtain environmental swabs only under the direction of IPC and Medical Microbiology. These activities should also be coordinated with laboratory services.
- consider cohort staffing strategies to decrease the risk of transmission to unaffected patients on the same unit
- in consultation with the MHO, consider closing the unit to new admissions until the outbreak is under control.

Glossary

Acute Care Facility: A hospital where lengths of stay average < 30 days, and where a variety of services are provided, including surgery and intensive care.

Additional Precautions: interventions implemented for certain pathogens or clinical presentations in addition to routine infection control practices, to reduce the risk of transmission of microorganisms from patient to patient, patient to HCP, and HCP to patient.

Assisted Living: Assisted living residences provide housing, hospitality, and personalized assistance services for adults who can live independently but require regular assistance with daily activities, usually because of age, illness, or disabilities.

CHICA-Canada: the Community and Hospital Infection Control Association (CHICA) of Canada, a professional organization of persons engaged in infection prevention and control activities in health care settings. CHICA- Canada members include infection prevention and control professionals from a number of related specialties including nurses, epidemiologists, physicians, microbiology technologists, public health, and industry.

Cleaning: the physical removal of foreign material (e.g., dust, soil) and organic material (e.g., blood, secretions, excretions, microorganisms). Cleaning physically removes rather than kills microorganisms. It is accomplished with water, detergents, and mechanical action.

Cohorting: The sharing of a room or ward by two or more clients/patients/residents who are either colonized or infected with the same microorganism; or the sharing of a room or ward by colonized or infected clients/patients/residents who have been assessed and found to be at low risk of dissemination, with roommates who are considered to be at low risk for acquisition.

Contact: Refers to an individual who is exposed to a person colonized or infected with an antibiotic resistant microorganism in a manner that allows transmission to occur (e.g., a roommate).

Cost/Benefit Analysis: a numerical evaluation of the actual or proposed value of specific process, including calculating the cost of the program and comparing this to the financial outcomes in the form of savings that can be expected from the program.

Drug Identification number (DIN): In Canada, disinfectants are regulated under the Food and Drugs Act and Regulations. Disinfectants must have a drug identification number (DIN) from Health Canada prior to marketing. This ensures that labelling and supportive data have been provided and that the Therapeutic Drugs Directorate has established that the product is effective and safe for its intended use.

Healthcare Provider (HCP): individual providing or supporting health care services that will bring them into contact with patients/clients/ residents. This includes, but is not limited to, emergency service

providers, physicians, pastors, dentists, chiropractors, nurses, podiatrists, respiratory therapists and other allied health professionals, students, support services (e.g. housekeeping, dietary, maintenance, hairdressers), and volunteers.

Home and Community Care: Home care is defined as a wide-range of medical, nursing, rehabilitation, hospice, and social services delivered to patients in their place of residence (e.g., private residence, senior living center, assisted living facility). Home healthcare services include care provided by home health aides and skilled nurses, respiratory therapists, dieticians, physicians, chaplains, and volunteers; provision of durable medical equipment; home infusion therapy; and physical, speech, and occupational therapy.

Hospital-grade Disinfectant: a disinfectant that has a drug identification number (DIN) from Health Canada indicating its approval for use in Canadian hospitals.

Infection Prevention and Control Professional(s) (ICP): trained individual(s) responsible for a health care setting's infection prevention and control activities, such as the designated infection prevention and control expert in the facility, or individuals with specific infection prevention and control training and expertise from the Regional Infection Control Network or Public Health.

Precautions: interventions to reduce the risk of transmission of microorganisms from patient to patient, patient to health care provider, and health care provider to patient.

Precautionary Principle: The precautionary principle is an approach to risk management that has been developed in circumstances of scientific uncertainty, reflecting the need by decision -makers to anticipate harm and to take prudent action in the face of potentially serious risk without having to wait for scientific research to confirm the likelihood or the level of harm that could occur.

Residential Care: Residential care facilities provide 24-hour professional nursing care and supervision in a protective, supportive environment for people who have complex care needs and can no longer be cared for in their own homes.

Summary of Recommendations

It is recommended that each facility/region develop a comprehensive, strategic plan to detect, prevent and control infection and colonization with AROs. A11 (page 9)

Each health authority should utilize an active antibiotic stewardship program that monitors and ensures the appropriate use of antibiotics. A11 (page 9)

It is recommended that acute care hospitals have a program of active screening for specific AROs for all admitted patients, which includes a screening questionnaire for risk factors, followed by cultures if indicated. B11 (page 9)

It is recommended that any health authority or facility considering the discontinuation of screening and containment practices for VRE follow the recommendations contained in the position statement "VRE Screening and Contact Precautions from the Community and Hospital Infection Control Association of Canada (CHICA)". C111 (page 11)

Facilities that choose to continue with VRE screening and containment should be aware that patients transferred from a hospital that has discontinued VRE screening and containment practices may be an unrecognized VRE reservoir. C111 (page 11)

A review of the literature and the impact of the changed approach on VRE infection rates in facilities that have chosen to discontinue screening and isolation should be completed within the next three to five years. Should any compelling evidence of harm be found, then a plan to re-institute screening and containment strategies will be required. C111 (page 12)

In the interests of patient safety and using the precautionary principle, it is recommended that highrisk individuals are screened for CRE upon admission to acute care facilities. **B111** (page 13)

If the decision to re-culture is made, obtain at least two sets of swabs taken from the sites in Table 1 at separate time intervals (at least a week apart). The patient should have completed all antibiotics and, although there is no evidence, the greater the time passed since antibiotic use would theoretically ensure that the results are more reliable. Health authorities should provide clear direction to staff on when to re-culture patients, and have an established procedure. C111 (page 14)

In high-risk areas of acute care, such as ICUs, burn units, transplantation units, or cardiothoracic units, patients who were roommates of or had close contact with a known ARO positive patient should be considered potentially exposed, and should have screening cultures performed. **C111** (page 14)

In addition to routine practices, use contact precautions when caring for individuals infected or colonized with MRSA. B11 (page 17)

Health authorities that choose to continue with screening and containment strategies for individuals colonized or infected with VRE should use contact precautions in same manner as used for MRSA. C11 (page 17)

In the interests of patient safety, and using the precautionary principle, it is recommended that contact precautions be used when caring for any patient known or suspected to be colonized or infected with CRE. B111 (page 17)

Use the precautionary principle and a transmission risk assessment to determine which patients, situations (e.g. one versus multiple patients), or care areas (e.g. ICU, burn units) are best served by additional strategies. This process may include use of contact precautions, screening of roommates, and conducting point prevalence studies if it appears that transmission is likely to have occurred. B111 (page 17)

If cohorting patients with AROs with patients that do not have AROs is unavoidable, there should be increased attention to effective environmental cleaning throughout the duration of the cohort. B111 (page 18)

Each health authority should develop an algorithm for prioritizing the use of single rooms. C111 (page 18)

In PACU, individuals known to be colonized or infected with an ARO should be cared for using contact precautions. B11 (page 19)

In the acute care setting, visitors should be instructed not to visit other patients on the same day, nor should they use common areas such as the nutrition area or patient lounge. **C111** (page 22)

Identifying colonized HCPs through screening as part of an outbreak investigation should only be done at the direction of IPC and Occupational Health and Safety (OHS), and in conjunction with the investigation of other possible sources of transmission. C111 (page 22)

Appendix 1: Definitions of the Strength of Recommendations and the Quality of	
Supporting Evidence	

Strength of recommendation	Definition
А	Good evidence to support a recommendation for or against use
В	Moderate evidence to support a recommendation for or against use
С	Poor evidence to support a recommendation
Quality of evidence	
1	Evidence from at least 1 properly randomized, controlled trial
11	Evidence from at least 1 well-designed clinical trial without randomization, from cohort or case-controlled analytic studies (preferably from more than 1 centre) from multiple time-series, or from dramatic results from uncontrolled experiments
111	Evidence from opinions of respected authorities, based on clinical experience, descriptive studies, or reports of expert committees.

Adapted and reproduced from the Canada Communicable Disease Report¹³¹ (1994).



Appendix 2: CHICA-Canada Position Statement

POSITION STATEMENT – VRE SCREENING AND CONTACT PRECAUTIONS

In the past year, some Canadian healthcare facilities have decided to reduce or stop the screening for Vancomycin Resistant Enterococci (VRE) as well as the use of contact precautions as a VRE control strategy, while others continue to support current guideline recommendations for VRE surveillance and the use of additional precautions.¹

Recognizing that there are two bodies of expert opinion on VRE control, CHICA-Canada takes no position on the specific strategy of decreasing or stopping screening or contact precautions for VRE. The following recommendations should not be interpreted as an endorsement of this practice by CHICA-Canada. However, CHICA-Canada does recommend that any changes to practice should be motivated by a desire to improve patient care, and should only be considered in the context of an infection control program already meeting or exceeding best practices.

For those healthcare facilities that are considering a change in VRE control strategy, CHICA-Canada recommends a considered approach including:

- epidemiologic investigation and risk assessment for any VRE infection specific to their facility;
- consultation with staff and client groups including high -risk wards/clinics;
- discussion with risk management and bioethics;
- consultation with patient relations and public affairs;
- consideration of legal consultation and review of existing practices guidelines and evidencebased studies;
- discussion with external stakeholders, including the health region;
- an enhanced communication strategy, including multiple contingencies and the possible need to alter strategy in the future.

Further, CHICA-Canada recommends that any savings incurred from decreased screening and contact precautions should be reinvested in the following activities (as determined by the risk assessment above):

- environmental cleaning;
- quality promotion and assessment of environmental cleaning and application of routine practices and additional precautions;
- hand hygiene;

- antimicrobial stewardship;
- monitoring of health care-associated infections (HAIs).

Finally, any such changes should be accompanied by close monitoring of VRE culture-positive HAIs following the changes, to assure that undue harm is not incurred as a result of any changes in policy. In the event that harm is found, facilities should be prepared to return to previous policies. It is also highly recommended that those facilities that choose to change their strategy should communicate their experiences to other members of the infection control community for future policy making.

Appendix 3: Review of Literature for Best Practices for VRE Control, - Page 9

IV. Conclusions

Based on the foregoing evidence, PIDAC concludes that, for both patient safety and costeffectiveness reasons, Ontario health care facilities should continue to carry out screening, surveillance and containment measures for cases of VRE colonization and infection until the results of an evaluation by PHO of the change of VRE control measures at four hospitals in Ontario are available.

V. Recommendations

PIDAC recommends the following:

- Continue VRE control measures as recommended in Annex A:
 - a) active surveillance screening for VRE;
 - b) containment of identified VRE cases through use of Additional Precautions; and
 - c) enhanced environmental cleaning for rooms of, and equipment used by, patients with VRE.
- Management of patients transferred from a hospital that has discontinued VRE containment practices:
 - a) Receiving hospitals should monitor VRE colonization/ infection rates in patients returning from these hospitals. Expect colonization levels to increase with time, with subsequent increases in rates of VRE infections, including bacteremia. With most current screening methods, results may not be available for 3-4 days depending on local laboratory turnaround time, delaying detection of colonization.
 - b) Consideration might be given to managing these patients in the same manner as patients who have been in a hospital in another country where VRE rates are high, i.e., pre-emptive isolation pending screening.

- c) If routine pre-emptive isolation is not feasible (e.g., insufficient numbers of single rooms) then pre-emptive isolation should be considered for patients at higher risk of having acquired VRE in the referral facility (e.g., those who have received care in an ICU setting; have been in a transplant unit; have had a longer LOS overall and/or in an ICU setting). Medical patients are at more risk than surgical patients; obstetrical and psychiatric patients are at lowest risk for VRE.
- d) If the transferring hospital is aware that a patient has VRE, the receiving facility should be notified. Close collaboration by regional centres and clear communication with receiving facilities is crucial.
- Health care facilities should await the results of evaluation before changing current practice.
- 4. Four hospitals in Ontario have discontinued VRE control measures. The impact of this change of infection control practice will be evaluated in real-time. PHO will work with these and other hospitals in Ontario to measure VRE infection rates and patient outcomes. The results of this study will be reported back to the field when data becomes available.

Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Group, December 2012

Appendix 4: Summary of Routine Practices

Hand Hygiene

Hand hygiene is the most important and effective IPC measure to prevent the spread of health careassociated infections. Hand hygiene must be practiced:

- before initial patient or patient environment contact (e.g., before coming into the client/patient/resident room or bed space); before any aseptic procedure
- after patient or patient environment contact; after exposure with blood and body fluids

Use alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) or soap and water to clean hands.

Point of Care Risk Assessment

Each HCW has a responsibility to perform a risk assessment before every interaction with a patient and/or the patient's environment to ensure that appropriate control measures are in place to prevent transmission.

Source control

- Spatially separate potentially infectious patient from other patients
- Respiratory etiquette: contain secretions during coughing or sneezing by covering mouth and nose with a tissue or sleeve, wearing a mask, and turning away from others.
- Environmental controls: measures that are built into the infrastructure of the health care setting that have been shown to reduce the risk of infection, such as hand washing sinks, point-of-care sharps containers, and sufficient air changes per hour appropriate to the care setting.
- Cleaning of non-critical equipment and the patient environment.

Patient placement

Single rooms with dedicated bathroom are preferred for placement of all patients. When availability of single rooms is limited, a priority for placement of patients in single rooms is indicated by the risk assessment.

Use of PPE

Personal protective equipment is used to prevent contact with blood, body fluids, secretions, excretions, non- intact skin, or mucous membranes, and includes:

- gloves when there is a risk of hand contact with blood, body fluids, secretions or excretions, or items contaminated with these
- gown if contamination of uniform or clothing is anticipated (e.g., cleaning bed of incontinent patient/resident)
- mask and eye protection or face shield where appropriate to protect the mucous membranes of the eyes, nose, and mouth during activities involving close contact (i.e., within two metres) with clients/ patients/ residents likely to generate splashes or sprays of secretions (e.g., coughing, sneezing).

References

- Conly, J. Antimicrobial Resistance in Canada. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2002;167(8):885-91.
- Shurland, S., Zhan, M., Bradham, D., & Roghmann, M. Comparison of Mortality Risk Associated With Bacteremia Due to Methicillin Resistant and Methicillin Susceptible *Staphylococcus Aureus*. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2007;28(3):273-9.
- Engemann, J., Carmeli, Y., Cosgrove, S., Fowler, V., Bronstein, M., et al. Adverse Clinical and Economic Outcomes Attributable to Methicillin Resistance Among Patients with *Staphylococcus Aureus* Surgical Site Infection. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2003;36(5):592-8.
- 4. Niederman,, M. Impact of Antibiotic Resistance on Clinical Outcomes and the Cost of Care. Critical Care Medicine. 2001;29(suppl 4):N114-20.
- 5. Cosgrove, S., Qi, Y., Kaye, KS., Harbarth, S., Karchmer, AW., & Carmeli, Y. The Impact of Methicillin Resistance in *Staphylococcus Aureus* Bacteremia on Patient Outcomes: Mortality, Length of Stay, and Hospital Charges. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2005;26(2):166-74.
- Roberts, R., Hota, B., Ahmad, I., Scott, D., Foster, S., et al. Hospital and Societal Costs of Antimicrobial-Resistant Infections in a Chicago Teaching Hospital: Implications for Antibiotic Stewardship. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2009;49:1175-84.
- Kluytmans, J., van Belkum, A., & Verbrugh, H. Nasal Carriage of *Staphylococcus Aureus*: Epidemiology, Underlying Mechanisms, and Associated Risks. Clincial Microbology Review. 1997;July 10(3):520-32.
- 8. Heymann, D. Control of Communicable Diseases Manual. 19th ed. D.L.H, editor. Washinton, DC: American Public Health Association Press; 2008.
- Hartstein ,A., Sebastian, T., & Strausbaugh, L. Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. In: Mayhall, CG, editor. Hospital Epidemiology and Infection Control. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins; 2004. p. 474-9.
- Barton, M., Moore, D., Conly, J., Nicolle, L., Allen, U., et al. . Guidelines for the prevention and management of community associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA): A perspective for Canadian health care practitioners. Canadian Journal of Infectious Disease and Medical Microbiology 2006;17(Supp.C):4-23.
- 11. Communicable Disease Prevention and Control Services. Antimicrobial Resistance Trends in the Province of British Columbia: British Columbia Center for Disease Control; 2010.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian Nosocomial Infection Surveillance Program (CNISP).
 2012;unpublished data.

- 13. British Columbia Center for Disease Control. Annual Report, 2012. 2003.
- 14. Chenoweth, C. *Enterococcus* Species. In: Mayhal CG, editor. Hospital Epidemiology and Infection Control. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins; 2004. p. 530-7.
- Brandford, P. Extended Spectrum Beta-lactamases in the 21st century: Characterization, Epidemiology, and Detection of this Important Resistance Threat. Clinical Microbiology Review. 2001;14:933-51.
- 16. Pitout, J., & Laupland, KB. Extended-spectrum b-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae: an Emerging Public Health Concern. Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2008;8:159-66.
- Mataseje, L., Bryce, E., Roscoe, D., Boyd, D., Embree, J., Gravel, D., et al. Carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacilli in Canada 2009–10: results from the Canadian Nosocomial Infection Surveillance Program (CNISP). Journal of Antimcrobial Chemotherapy. 2012;67:1359-67.
- Morgan, D., Liang, S., Smith, C., Johnson, J., Harris, A., et al. Frequent Multidrug-Resistant Acinetobacter Baumannii Contamination of Gloves, Gowns, and Hands of Healthcare Workers. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2010;31(7):716-21.
- 19. Thon, K., Johnson, K., Lee, M., & Harris, A. Environmental Contamination Because of Multidrug-Resistant *Acinetobacter Baumannii* Surrounding Colonized or Infected Patients. American Journal of Infection Control. 2011;39:711-5.
- Cristina, M., Spagnolo, A., Ottria, G., Sartini, M., Orlando, P., Perdelli, F., et al. Spread of Multidrug Carbapenem Resistant Acinetobacter Baumannii in Different Wards of an Italian hospital. American Journal of Infection Control. 2011;39:790-4.
- 21. Borgmann, S., Wolz, C., Grobner, S., Autenrieth, I., Heeg, P., et al. Metallo-b-lactamase Expressing Multi-resistant *Acinetobacter Baumannii* Transmitted in the Operation Area. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2004;57:308-15.
- Fillaux ,J., Dubouix, A., Conil, JM., Laguerre, J., & Marty, N. Retrospective Analysis of Multi-drug Resistant *Acinetobacter Baumannii* Strains Isolated During a 4 Year Period in a University Hospital. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2006;27(7):647-53.
- Linares, L,. Cervera, C., Cofan, F., Lizaso, D., Marco, F., et al. Risk Factors for Infection with Extended-Spectrum and AmpC b-Lactamase-Producing Gram-Negative Rods in Renal Transplantation. American Journal of Transplantation. 2008;8:1000-5.
- 24. Falagas, M., & Kopterides, P. Risk factors for the Isolation of Multi-drug-resistant *Acinetobacter Baumannii* and *Pseudomonas Aeruginosa:* a systematic Review of the Literature. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2006;64:7-15.
- 25. Ortega, B., Groeneveld, J., & Schultz, C. Endemic Multidrug Resistant *Pseudomonas Aeruginosa* in Critically III Patients. infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2004;25(10):825-31.

March 2013

- Deplano, A., Denis, O., Poirel, L., Hocquet, D., & Byl, B. Molecular Characterization of an Epidemic Clone of Panantibiotic-Resistant *Pseudomonas Aeruginosa*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2005;43(3):1198-204.
- 27. Gulcan, H., Kuzucu, C., & Durmaz, R. Nosocomial *Stenotrophomonas Maltophilia* Cross-Infection: Three Cases in Newborns. American Journal of Infection Control. 2004;32(365-368).
- 28. Park, Y., Kim, SY., Park, S., Kang, JH., Lee, H., et al. Pseudooutbreak of *Stenotrophomonas Maltophilia* Bacteremia in a General Ward. American Journal of Infection Control. 2008;36:29-32.
- 29. Gould, I. Clinical Activity of Anti-Gram-Positive Agents Against Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. Journal of Antimcrobial Chemotherapy. 2011;66(Supp 4: iv17-iv21).
- 30. Kos, V., Desjardins, C., Griggs, A., Cerqueira, G., Van Tonder, A., et al. Comparative Genomics of Vancomycin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Strains and Their Positions within the Clade Most Commonly Associated with Methicillin Resistant *S. aureus* Hospital-Acquired Infection in the United States. mBio. 2012;3(3):e00112-12.
- 31. Zeller, V., Kitzis, MD., Graff, W., Mamoudy, P., & Desplaces, N. Hip Arthroplasty Infection With Hetergeneous Vancomycin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2006;38(10):934-8.
- 32. Storey, D., Pate, P., Nguyen, A., & Chang, F. Implementation of an Antimicrobial Stewardship Program on the Medical-Surgical Service of a 100-bed Community Hospital. Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control. 2012;1(32).
- Carling, P., Fing, T., Killion, A., Terrin, N., & Barza, M. Favorable Impact of a Multidisciplinary Antibiotic Management Program Conducted During 7 Years. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2003;24(9):699-706.
- 34. Lutters, M., Harbarth, S., Janssens, JP., Freudiger, H., Hermann, F., Michel, JP., et al. Effect of a Comprehensive, Multidisciplinary, Educational Program on the use of Antibiotics in a Geriatric University Hospital. Journal of American Geriatric Society. 2004;52(1):112-6.
- 35. Khan, A., Dancer, S., & Humphreys, H. Priorities in the Prevention and Control of Multidrug Resistant Enterobacteriaceae in Hospitals. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2012;82:85-93.
- 36. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health. Rapid Response Report: Systematic Review. Screening, Isolation, and Decolonization Strategies for Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci* or Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase Producing Organisms: A Systematic Review of the Clinical Evidence and Health Services Impact. September. 2012.
- 37. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health. Screening, Isolation and Decolonization Strategies for Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*: A Review of the Clinical Evidence. 2012.

- 38. Boyce ,J., Cookson, B., Christiansen, K., Hori, S., Vuopio-Varkila, J., et al. Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2005;5(10):653-63.
- Verhoef, J., Beaujean, D., Blok, H., Baars, A., Meyler, A., van der Werken, C., et al. A Dutch Approach to Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. European Journal of Clinical Mocrobiology and Infections Disease. 1999;18(7):461-6.
- 40. Bilavsky, E., Lerman, Y., Rabinovich, A., Salomon, J., Lawrence, C., et al. Carriage of Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* on Admission to European Rehabilitation Centres—a Prospective Study. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2012;18(6):E164-9.
- 41. McCarthy, N., MPH; Sullivan, P., PhD, Gaynes, R., & Rimland, D. Risk Factors Associated with Methicillin Resistance among *Staphylococcus aureus* Infections in Veterans. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2010;31(1):36-41.
- 42. Stone, N,. Lewis, D., Johnson II, T., Hartney, T., Chandler, D., et al. Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* (MRSA) Nasal Carriage in Residents of Veterans Affairs Long-Term Care Facilities: Role of Antimicrobial Exposure and MRSA Acquisition. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2012;33(6):551-7.
- 43. Schoevaerdts, D., Verroken, A., Huang, TD., Frennet, M., Berhin, C., et al. Multidrug Resistant Bacteria Colonization Amongst Patients Newly Admitted to a Geriatric Unit: A Prospective Cohort Study. Journal of Infection. 2012;doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2012.02.004:1-10.
- 44. Chacko, J., Kuruvila, M., & Bhat, GK. Factors Affecting the Nasal Carriage of Methicillin Resistant *Staphylcoccus Aureus* in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infected Patients. Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology. 2009;27(2):146-8.
- 45. Tacconelli, E., De Angelis, G., Cataldo, MA., Mantengoli, E., Spanu, T., Pan, A., et al. . Antibiotic Usage and Risk of Colonization and Infection with Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria: a Hospital Population-Based Study. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2009;53(10):4264-9.
- 46. Brugnaro, P., Fedeli, U., Pellizzer, G., Buonfrate, D., Rassu, M., et al. Clustering and Risk Factors of Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Carriage in Two Italian Long-Term Care Facilities. Infection. 2009;37(3):216-21.
- Baker, S., Brecher, S., Robillard, E., Strymish, J., Lawler, E., et al. Extranasal Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Colonization at Admission to an Acute Care Veterans Affairs Hospital. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2010;31(1):42-6.
- Kutlu ,D., Cevahir, N., Akalin, S., Akin, F., Caylak, S., et al. Prevalence and Risk Factors for Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Colonization in a Diabetic Outpatient Population: A Prospective Cohort Study. American Journal of Infection Control. 2012;40:365-8.

- 49. March, A., Aschbacher, R., Dhanji, H., Livermore, DM., Bottcher, A., et al. Colonization of Residents and Staff of a Long-Term-Care Facility and Adjacent Acute-Care Hospital Geriatric Unit by Multiresistant Bacteria. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2012;16(7):934-44.
- Costelloe, C., Lovering, A., Montgomery, A., Lewis, D., McNulty, C., & Hay, A. Effect of Antibiotic Prescribing in Primary Care on Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Carriage in Community Resident Adults: a Controlled Observational Study. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2012;39:135-41.
- Wang, J., Liao, CH., Fang, CT., Chie, WC., Lai, MS., et al. Incidence of and Risk Factors for Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* Acquired Infection or Colonization in Intensive-Care-Unit Patients. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2010;48(12):4439-44.
- 52. Popovich, K., Smith, K., Khawcharoenporn, T., Thurlow, C., Lough, J., et al. Community-Associated Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Colonization in High-Risk Groups of HIV-Infected Patients. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2012;54(9):1296-303.
- 53. Lindenmayer, J., Schenfeld, S., O'Grady, R., et al. . Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus in a high school wrestling team and surrounding community. . Archives of Internal Medicine 1998;158:895-9.
- 54. Webber, T. Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2005;41:S269–S72.
- 55. Beam, J., and Buckley, B. Community-Acquired Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus: Prevalence and Risk Factors. Journal of Athletic Training 2006;40(3).
- Zafar, U., Johnson, L., Hanna, M., Riederer, K., Sharma, M., et al. Prevalence of Nasal Colonization Among Patients With Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Infection and Their Household Contacts. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2007;28(8):966-9.
- Calfee, D., Durbin, L., Germanson, T., Toney, D., Smith, E., et al. Spread of Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) Among Household Contacts of Individuals with Nosocomially Acquired MRSA. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2003;24(6):422-6.
- 58. Johansson, P., Gustafsson, E., & Ringberg, H. High Prevalence of MRSA in Household Contacts. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2007;39(9):764-8.
- Mollema, F., Richardus, J., Behrendt, M., Vaessen, N., Lodder, W., et al. Transmission of Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* to Household Contacts. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2009;48(1):202-7.

- 60. Huijsdens, X., van Santen-Verheuvel, M., Spalburg, E., Heck, M., Pluister, G., et al. Multiple Cases of Familial Transmission of Community Acquired Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2006;44(8):22994-2996.
- 61. Prince, C., Paule, S., Noskin, G., & Peterson, L. Active Surveillance Reduces the Incidence of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococcal* Bacteremia. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2003;37(7):921-8.
- 62. Wang, J., Chen, Y., Chang, S., Chen, M., Pan, H., et al. Control of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci* in a Hospital: a Five Year Experience in a Taiwanese Teaching Hospital. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2004;58(2):97-103.
- 63. Yoonchang, S., Peck, K., Kim, O., Lee, J., Lee. N., et al. Efficacy of Infection Control Strategies to Reduce Transmission of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci* in a Tertiary Care Hospital in Korea: a 4year Follow-up Study. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2007;28(4):493-5.
- 64. Catalano, G., Houston, S., Catalano, M., Butera, A., Jennings, S., Hakala, S., Burrows, S., Hickey, M., Duss, C., Skelton, D., and Laliotis, G. Anxiety and Depression in Hospitalized Patients in Resistent Organism Isolation. Southern Medical Journal. 2003;96(2):141-5.
- 65. Gammon , J. The Psychological Consequences of Source Isolation: a Review of the Literature. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 1999;8:13-21.
- 66. Bryan, C., Call, T., and Elliott, K. The Ethics of Infection Control: Philosophical Frameworks. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2007;28(9):1077-84.
- 67. Assadian ,O., Askarian, M., Stadler, M., & Shaghaghian, S. Prevelance of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci* Colonization and it's Risk Factors in Chronic Hemodialysis Patients in Shiraz, Iran. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2007;7(52).
- Almyroudis, N., Lesse, J., Hahn, T., Samonis, G., Hazamy, P., et al. Molecular Epidemiology and Risk Factors for Colonization by Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococcus* in Patients with Hematologic Malignancies. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2011;32(5):490-6.
- 69. Donskey, C., Hoyen, C., Das, S., Helfand , M., & Hecker, M. Recurrence of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococcus* Stool Colonization During Antibiotic Therapy. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2002;23(8):436-40.
- 70. Zhou ,Q., Moore, C., Eden, S., Tong, A., McGeer, A., et al. Factors Associated with Acquisition of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci* (VRE) in Roommate Contacts of Patients Colonized or Infected with VRE in a Tertiary Care Hospital. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2008;29(5):398-403.
- Hufnagel, M., Liese, C., Loescher, C., Kunze, M., & Proempeler, H. Enterococcal Colonization of Infants in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: Associated Predictors, Risk Factors and Seasonal Patterns. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2007;7(107).

- 72. Song, J., Cheong, H., Jo, Y., Choi, W., Noh, J., et al. Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococcus* Colonization Before Admission to the Intensive Care Unit: A Clinico-epidemiologic Analysis. American Journal of Infection Control. 2009;37:734-40.
- 73. Cohen, M., Adler, A., Block, C., Gross, I., Minster, N., et al. Acquisition of Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci* in Internal medicine Wards. American Journal of Infection Control. 2009;37(111-116).
- 74. Gardam, M., Lemieux, C., Evans, G., Roth, V., & John, M. Response to the Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee Review of Literature for Evidence-Based best Practices for VRE Control. In press 2012.
- 75. Blaschke, A., Korgenski, K., Daly, J., LaFleur, B., Pavia, A., et al. Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase-Producing Pathogens in a Children's Hospital: A Five-Year Experience. American Journal of Infection Control. 2009;37(6):435-41.
- Tumbarello, M., Trecarichi, E., Bassetti, M., DeRosa, F.,Spanu, T., et al. Identifying Patients Harboring Extended-Spectrum-B-Lactamase-Producing *Enterobacteriaceae* on Hospital Admission: Derivation and Validation of a Scoring System. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2011;55(7).
- 77. Schoevaerdts, D., Bogaerts, P., Grimmelprez, A., de Saint-Huberts, M., Delaere, B., et al. Clinical Profiles of Patients Colonized or Infected with Extended-Spectrum beta-Lactamase Producing *Enterobacteriaceae* Isolates: a 20 Month Retrospective Study at a Belgian University Hospital. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2011;11(12).
- 78. Paterson, D., & Bonomo, R. Extended-Spectrum -Lactamases: a Clinical Update. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 2005;October:657-86.
- 79. Levy, S., Mello, M., Gusmao-filho, F., & Correia, J. Colonisation by Extended Spectrum blactamase-producing Klebsiella spp. in a Paediatric Intensive Care Unit. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2010;76:66-9.
- 80. Crivaro, V., Baggattini, M., Salza, M., Raimondo, F., Rossano, F., et al. Risk Factors for Extended-Spectrum b-lactamase Producing *Serratia Marcescens* and *Klebsiella* Pneumoniae Acquisition in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2007;67:135-41.
- 81. Lo, W., Ho, PK., Chow, KH., Lai, E., Yeung, F., & Chiu, S. Fecal Carriage of CTXM Type Extended Spectrum Beta Lactamase Producing Organisms by Children and Their Household Contacts. Journal of Infection 2012;60:286-92.
- Ofek-Shlomai ,N., Benenson, S., Ergaz, Z., Peleg, O., Braunstein, R., & Bar-Oz, B. Gastrointestinal Colonization with ESBL-Producing *Klebsiella* in Preterm Babies—is Vancomycin to Blame? European Journal of Clinical Mocrobiology and Infections Disease. 2012;31:567-70.

- Tamma P, Savard, P., Pal, T., Sonneved, A., Perl, T., et al. An Outbreak of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase–Producing *Klebsiella* pneumoniae in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2012;33(6):631-4.
- Nicolas-Chanoine, M., Robert, J., Arlet, G., Drieux, L., et al. Patient's Origin and Lifestyle Associated with CTX-M-Producing Escherichia coli : A Case-Control-Control Study. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(1):e30498. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030498.
- 85. Tham, J., Walder, M., & Odenholt, I. Duration of Colonization with Extended Spectrum Beta Lactamase Producing *Escherichia* Coli in Patients with Travellers ' Diarrhoea. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2012;Early On-line:1-5.
- Tangden, T., Cars, O., Melhus, A., & Lowdin, E. Foreign Travel Is a Major Risk Factor for Colonization with Escherichia coli Producing CTX-M-Type Extended-Spectrum B-Lactamases: a Prospective Study with Swedish Volunteers. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2010;54(9):3564-8.
- Tande, D., Boisrame, Gastrin, S., Munck, M., Hery-Arnaud, G., Gouriou, S., et al. Intrafamilial transmission of Extended spectrum-b-lactamase Producing *Escherichia Coli and Salmonella Enterica* Babelsberg Among the Families of Internationally Adopted Children. Journal of Antimcrobial Chemotherapy. 2010;65:859-65.
- Lo, W., Ho, P., Chow, K., Lai, E., Yeung, F., & Chiu, S. Fecal Carriage of CTXM type Extended Spectrum Beta-lactamase-producing Organisms by Children and Their Household Contacts. Journal of Infection. 2010;60:286-92.
- Rodriguez-Bano, J., Lopez-Cerero, L., Navarro, M., Diaz de Alba, P., & Pascual, A. Faecal Carriage of Extended-spectrum b-lactamase-producing Escherichia Coli: Prevalence, Risk Factors and Molecular Epidemiology. Journal of Antimcrobial Chemotherapy. 2008;62:1143-9.
- Rooney, P., O'Leary, M., Loughrey, A., McCalmont, M., Smyth, B., et al. Nursing Homes as a Reservoir of Extended-Spectrum b-lactamase (ESBL) Producing Ciprofloxacin-resistant *Escherichia Coli*. Journal of Antimcrobial Chemotherapy. 2009;64:635-41.
- 91. European Center for Disease Prevention and Control. Risk Assessment on the Spread of Carbapenemase Producing *Enterobacteriaceae* (CPE) Through Patient Transfer Between Healthcare Facilities, with Special Emphasis on Cross-border Transfer. Stockholm: ECDC. 2011.
- Chitnis, A., Caruthers, P., Rao, A., Lamb, J., Lurvey, R., et al. Outbreak of Carbapenem Resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* at a Long Term Acute Care Hospital: Sustained Reductions in Transmission through Active Surveillance and Targeted Interventions. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2012;33(10):984-92.

- 93. Morris, D., Boyle, F., Morris, C., Condon, I., Delannoy-Vieillard, AS., et al. Inter-hospital Outbreak of Klebsiella Pneumoniae Producing KPC-2 Carbapenemase in Ireland. Journal of Antimcrobial Chemotherapy. 2012;67:2367-72.
- 94. Landman, D., Babu, E., Shah, N., Kelly, P., Olawole, O., et al. Transmission of Carbapenem Resistant Pathogens in New York City Hospitals: Progress and Frustration. Jorunal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2012;67:1427-31.
- 95. Poulou, A., Voulgari, E., Vrioni, G., Xidopoulos, G., Pliagkos, A., et al. Imported *Klebsiella* pneumoniae Carbapenemase Producing *K*. Pneumoniae Clones in a Greek Hospital: Impact of Infection Control Measures for Restraining Their Dissemination. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2012;50(8):2618-23.
- 96. Canada Communicable Disease Report. Carbapenem-Resistant *Klebsiella* Pneumoniae Associated with a Long-Term–Care Facility West Virginia, 2009–2011. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2011;60(41):1418-20.
- 97. Robicsek, A., Beaumont, J., & Peterson, L. Duration of Colonization with Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2009;48:910-3.
- 98. Mattner, F., Bierts, F., Ziesing, S., Gastmeier, P., & Chaberny, I. Long-term persistence of MRSA in Re-admitted Patients. Infection. 2010;38:363-71.
- Larsson, A., Gustafsson, E., Nilsson, A., Odenholt, I., Ringberg, H., & Melander, E. Duration of Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Colonization After Diagnosis: A Four Year Experience From Southern Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2011;43:456-62.
- 100. Pacio, G., Visintainer, P., Maguire, G., Wormsser, G., Raffalli, J., & Montecalvo, M. Natural History of Colonization with Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococci*, Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*, and Resistant Gram-Negative Bacilli Among Long Term Care Facility Risidents. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2003;24(4):246-50.
- 101. Alsterlund, R., Axelsson, C., & Olsson-Liljequist, B. Long Term Carriage of Extended Spectrum Betalactamase Producing *Escherichia coli*. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2012;44:51-4.
- 102. Tham, J., Walder, M., Melander, E., & Odenholt. I. Duration of Colonization with Extended Spectrum Beta-lactamase Producing *Escherichia coli* in Patients with Travellers ' Diarrhoea. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2012;Early online.
- Gauthier, J., McDonald, S., Zoutman, D. Time Interval from Exposure to Detection of MRSA...Culturing Once is Not Enough. Canadian Journal of Infection Control. 2004;19(1):insert:18.
- 104. Ng, W., Kalpana, G., Muhammed, N., Tomassi, J., & Katz, K. Too Close for Comfort: Screening Strategy to Detect Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Conversion in Exposed Roommates. American Journal of Infection Control. 2012;40:883-5

- 105. Canada Communicable Disease Report. Routine Practices and Additional Precautions for Preventing the Transmission of Infection in Health Care. 1999;July(Supplement Volume 2554).
- 106. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion PIDAC. Routine Practices and Additional Precautions in all Health Care Settings. Toronto, Ontario: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2011.
- 107. Morgan, D., Pineles, L., Shardell, M., Graham, M., Mohammadi, S., et al. The Effect of Contact Precautions on Healthcare Worker Activity in Acute Care Hospitals. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2013;34(1):69-73.
- Shiomori, T., Miyamoto, H., Makishima, K., Yoshida, M/, Fujiyoshi, T., Udaka, T., et al. Evaluation of Bedmaking Related Airborne and Surface Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Contamination. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2002;50(1):30-5.
- 109. Sherertz, R., Bassetti, S., & Bassette-Wyss, B. "Cloud" Health Care Workers. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2001;7(2):241-4.
- 110. Kola, A., Chaberny I., Ziesing S., Suerbaum S., & Gastmeier P. Surveillance of Extended Spectrum Beta-lactamase Producing Bacteria and Routine use of Contact Isolation: Experience From a Three Year Period. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2007;66(1):46-51.
- 111. Ho, C., Lau, A., Cimon, K., Farrah, K., & Gardam, M. Screening, Isolation, and Decolonization Strategies for Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococci* or Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase Producing Organisms: A Systematic Review of the Clinical Evidence and Health Services Impact. [Rapid Response Report: Systematic Review]. In press 2012.
- 112. Snitkin, E., Zelazny, A., Thomas, P., Henderson, D., Palamore, T. et al. Tracking a Hospital Outbreak of Carbapenem Resistant *Klebsiella* Pneumoniae with Whole-Genome Sequencing. Science Translational Medicine.4(148):148ra16.
- 113. Grabsch, E., Padiglione, A., O'Keeffe J.,, Ballard, S., & Grayson ML. . Risk of Environmental and Healthcare Worker Contamination With Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococci* During Outpatient Procedures and Hemodialysis. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology 2006;27:287-93.
- 114. Hardy, K., Oppenheim, B., Gossain, S. et al. A Study of the Relationship Between Environmental Contamination with Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* (MRSA) and Patients' Acquisition of MRSA. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology. 2006;27(2):127-32.
- 115. Loeb, M., Main, C., Dilks, C., Aady, A. Antimicrobial Drugs for Treating Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Colonization. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2005;1.
- Lee, B., Wiringa, A., Bailey, R., Goyal, V., Lewis, J., Tsui, B., Smith, K., & Muder, R. Screening Cardiac Surgery Patients for MRSA: An Economic Computer Model. American Journal of Managed Care. 2010;16(7):e163-e73.

- 117. Nicholson, M., & Huesman, L. Controlling the Usage of Intranasal Mupirocin Does Impact the Rate of *Staphylococcus Aureus* Deep Sternal Wound Infections in Cardiac Surgery Patients. American Journal of Infection Control. 2006;34:44-8.
- Ramirez, M., Marchessault, M., Govednik-Horny, C., Jupiter, D., & Papaconstantinou, H. The Impact of MRSA Colonization on Surgical Site Infection Following Major Gastrointestinal Surgery. Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery. 2012;Published online: 05 September, 2012.
- 119. Hadley, S., Immerman, I., Hutzler, L., Slover, J., & Bosco, J. *Staphylococcus aureus* Decolonization Protocol Decreases Surgical Site Infections for Total Joint Replacement. Arthritis. 2010(Article ID 924518).
- Hacek, D., Robb, W., Paule, S., Kudrna, J., Stamos, V., & Peterson, L. *Staphylococcus Aureus* Nasal Decolonization in Joint Replacement Surgery Reduces Infection. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2008;466:1349-55.
- 121. Kalmeijer, M., Coertjens, H., van Nieuwland-Bollen, P., Bogaers-Hofman, D., de Baere, G., Stuurman, A., et al. Surgical Site Infections in Orthopedic Surgery: The Effect of Mupirocin Nasal Ointment in a Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Study. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2002;35(4):353-8.
- 122. Huang, S., Datta, R., & Platt, R. Risk of Acquiring Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria From Prior room Occupants. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2006;166(18):1945-51.
- 123. Hardy, K., Oppenheim, B., Gossain, S. et al. A Study of the Relationship Between Environmental Contamination with Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and Patients' Acquisition of MRSA. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology 2006;27(2):127-32.
- 124. Grabsch, E., Burrell, L., Padiglione, A., O'Keeffe, J., Ballard, S., & Grayson, M. . Risk of Environmental and Healthcare Worker Contamination With Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococci* During Outpatient Procedures and Hemodialysis. Infection Control & Hosp Epidemiology 2006;27:287-93.
- 125. British Columbia Center for Disease Control. Food Protection; Vital to Your Business. 2010 Available from: http://www.bccdc.ca/NR/rdonlyres/29845061-1E80-4768-B278-A245E70368BE/0/FoodProtectionVitaltoBusiness_Mar2010.pdf.
- 126. Vonberg R, Stamm-Balderjahn, S., Hansen, S., Zuschneid, I., Rüden, H., et al. How Often Do Asymptomatic Healthcare Workers Cause Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus* Outbreaks? A Systematic Evaluation. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2006;27(10):1123-7.
- 127. Creamer, E., Dorrian, S., Dolan, A., Sherlock, O., Fitzgerald-Hughes, D., et al. When are the Hands of Healthcare Workers Positive for Meticillin Resistant *Staphylococcus Aureus*? Journal of Hospital Infection. 2010;75:107-11.

- 128. Lefebvre, S., Golab, G., Christensen, E. et al. Guidelines for Animal Assisted Activities in Health Care Facilities. American Journal of Infection Control. 2008;36(2):78-85.
- 129. Vitale, C, & Weese JS. . Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in cat and owner Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2006;December.
- 130. Manian, F. Asymptomatic Nasal Carriage of Mupirocin-Resistant, Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) in a Pet Dog Associated with MRSA Infection in Household Contacts. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2003;36(2):e26-e8.
- Mac Pherson, DW. Evidence Based Medicine. Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1994:20(17), 145-156

The Provincial Infection Control Network of BC (PICNet)555 West 12th Avenue, Suite #400 East Tower, Room 413/414Vancouver, BC V5Z 3X7Tel: 604-707-2667Fax: 604-707-2649Email: picnet@phsa.caWebsite: www.picnet.ca



